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This is the story of a Holocaust survivor, Jack Glotzer, my brother-in-law
(husband of my sister Beatrice Glotzer) which was narrated by him to my
sister in several'segments. This is the most gruesome story that I have
ever heard; the events are so horrendous that they shall remain buried
deep in my memory.

So, the question arises why do we have to dwell in the past and to rekash
Jack's life experiences which happened over fifty years ago? why do we:
have to subject him to painful and tearful recollections?

Perhaps it would be better for Jack to keep his past life experiences
only in his memory and certainly never to forget thém, but not to ask
him to narrate his story and to put it in writing which undoubtedly
causes him much pain and éggravation.

THE ANSWEER IS A KESOUNDING NO.

We must preserve Jack's story (and stories of other survivers) so that
his children, grandchildren, their children and so on will learn what
happened to their father, grandfather and their ancestor in the middle
cltentieth . cenmiury. They must learn about the Germswn., once one of

the most cultural and civilized people in the world, who blirdly fol-
lowing a barbaric and animalistic leader Adolf Hitler (Yimah Shemo -

May bhis name be wiped out), tortured and annihilated 6 million Jews
(with collaboration of Ukrainians, Lithuanians and otkers) using unheard
of barbaric methods. The Germans "believed in God" - on their belt buck-
les they had an insignia "Gott mit uns" - God with us. Perhaps they be-
lieved in God that advocates torturing and killing innocent people.

And the world stood by doing nothing to help to save the Jews. All coun-
tries including USA (with the exception and Denmark and Bulgaria) were
not only indifferent to the predicament of the Jews, but many times
undermined feasible endeavors to save the Jews. The allied governments
did not even issue an authoritative denunciation of the German atrocities
against the Jews. It is doubtful whether the Jewish leaders in USA and
the American Jewry, not being united, made a concerted effort to persuade
the US government not to abandon the Jews.in Europe.

By their inaction and indifference, the USA and other countries bear a

partial responsibility for the annihilation of 6 million Jews. It must
be understood that because of their inactivity and silence, they actually .




helped to inflame and to exacerbate the German Holocaust. Perhaps these
statements are harsh but they are factual statements. %e skzll not for-
get these shameful pages of the US and their allies' bhistory.

This particular story stands out as sn example of Jacx's resourcefulness
and resilience and above all his strong will to survive sgainst over-
whelming odds. I would be amiss if I did not state that Jack is blessed
with & phenomenal memory. His recollection of events in minute devails,
which occurred over fifty yezrs sgo, is truly remarkable.

I wish to gratefully acknowledge the assistance in preparation of this
work, by my sister, Beatrice Glotzer. I am fully cognizant of her hard
and painful task of eliciting Jack's story and writing it down for ne.
Without her assistance this work could not have heen accoxplishked.

I ealso want to thark my wife, Belle for helping me with the editing of
the text.

The future generations must learn from such stories so that another
Eolocaust will not be allowed to happen in the fusure; we therefore
must preserve Holoczust stories so that the German Holocsust is notv
forgotten or denied.

Alexander Walzer

Brooklyn, L.Y.
July 2000
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*Hear this, ye old men,

And give ear, all ye inhabitants of
the land.

Hath this been in your days,

Or in the days of your fathers?

¥Tell ye your children of it,

'And let your children tell their

. children,

Aund their chlldren another genera-
. %on. -
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_ _Early Childhood Years (until the outbreak of World War II Sept. 1,1939)

I was born in the town Rohatyn (Poland before World War II, now Ukraine)
on January 12, 1925. Rohatyn is situated on Lwéw-Stanislawéw highway,
approximately 70 km (43 miles) southeast of Lwow. Before the war the
total population of Rohatyn was 9,000; one third (3,000) were Jews.

I was the olaest son of Mayer and Toba Glotzer (nee Barban). I was named
after my mother's father Jacob Barban, who was called Yankel. My nick-
name was Kuba because the Ukrainian anti-Semites made fun of my name
Yankel; Kuba sounded more like an Ukrainian name.

%e lived in our house on the outskirts of Rohatyn on Cerkiewna street
No. 20. %e had several horses, cows and a barn for them. Adjacent to
our house was a big garden. The house was surrounced by orcharas of
fruiv trees, currant bushes and lots of greeneries. The scenery was
magnificernt. Close to our house was a river "Gnia Lipa" (rotten linden)
where I learned to swim. My father owned a butcher store in the "rynek"

(market place).

I had two brothers: Samuel (Shmul) who was a year younger than I. My
youngest brother Moshe Emanuel was born in April 193y). I adored my
little brother; He used to follow me everywhere which was somewhat
bothersome.’However, in as much as I loved him very much, I did not

object to his fcollowing me.

One incident stays in my memory. At one time when my little trother was
following me, we had to cross railroad tracks, The crossing gate was
down and my brother ran across the tracks; the train was approacking,
‘but he made it in time. I was in a shock and hardly made it back home.
After this episode I had nightmares.

My grandfather Kalmen Glotzer bullt our house exclusively for his chkil-
dren. My father's sister Malkah Altman and her three sons, my grand-
facther's son Iser Glotvzer with his wife and two soms and cur family
(my parents, I and my two brothers) lived in this house. Because we
lived so close together, I played with my cousins very often and I
enjoyed it very much. My father had another four sisters who lived in
USA and a brother Jacob who lived in Bielsko (Poland) with his wife -~
and three daughters: Tonia (Tosia), Clara and Adela. Tosia was a tig

disappointment to the whole family. Ske converted to Catholicism and
married (in church) a Polish man, Joseph Czekay. Tosia was very talented;

+ HeT husband mMax Altmanwent vo USA Derore the war witch the invention TO
tringing over his family to USA-




sne 1inisned music conservatory and became an accomplished pianist.
Tosia's father sat Shivsh for her; nobody in the family was allowed to
mention her name. Jacob and his family used to come to us during vaca-
tion time; but, since this episode they stopped coming to us which
made me very unhappy.

My father's cousin Shive Glotzer had also a butcher store in the "rynek";
his wife's name was Malkah. They had three daughters: Lusia, Rozia and

Gittl. We were very close to them.

I had many friends with whom I played and spent a lot of time. Since
the river "Gnila Lipa" was so close to our house, I learned to swim
early. 4s I think now, we gave our parents much aggravation by going
alone to the river. My btest friends were Shlomo Laufer (he lived with
his family very close to us), Buszko Kleinwaks and Izie Huber. Having
had so many cousins nearby anda friends, I was never lonely. I enjoyed
my life as a youngster.

My mcther's mother Leah Barban and my grandfather Yankel Barban were
very loving grandparents. My mother's side of the family were consid-
ered more aristocratic than my fatvher's. My grandfather was & mailman;
it was unusual for a Jew to hLave a government position. My grandmother
Leah was a midwife; she delivered almost every baby in Rohatyn. She
was very respectved, even by the gentiles. They always took off their
hats wken greeting my grandmother. She was very generous to us. Every
Passover, we, the three boys used to receive from her new suits and
shoes.

My mother had a sister Zissl. Zissl emigrated to USA long tefore the
~war. She married Joseph Loew (who was Rosette Faust Halpern's uncle).
They lived in the Bronx.

My mother had also a brother, Zev Barban. Zev was a very talented actor.
He left for Israel (Palestine at that time) and became a famous actor
in Tel-4viv theater Ohel. He married Dvora Kostelanetz who was an
actress and sang professionally. He used to come to Rokatyn with his
troupe and performed there.

My mother had also another brother Morris Barban who was a lawyer.

My mother was a beautiful woman. She was very talented with ker hands.
She used to make beautiful needlepoints and to crochet curvains. She

sent some of her needlework to USA whickh is now in my possession.
I remember her always doing something and singing. She was =z very
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I atvended a grammar school named "Marszalka Pilsudskiego" (after a
Polish Marshal Jozef Pilsudski). We callea it nczerwona Szkoia" (Red
School) because of the brick trimming. I did not enjoy my school years;
we, the Jewish students constantly fought with the anti-Semitic boys.
The Jewish boys were always blamed for starting the fights. My fevorite
school subjects were history and geography. I hated to memorize poems.
I was more preoccupied going along with our workers in the wagon pulled
by our horse. I finished seven years of elementary school. by grades
were average; I never had a failing grade.

is was the custom, when I reached my lithbirchaay, I became Bar Mivzvah.
I did not like to study with the Retbies (Jewish teachers) because they
used ©o beat me and other Jewish children. (It is to be noted that
Jewish boys who attended Hebrew schools, private or pubtlic, were often

subjected to bodily abuse at teacher's discretion).

My life changed considersbly in 1937 wken my fatker left for USA. The
reason for his decision to go tvo USA was the refusal by the local gov-
ernment to permit ritual slaughtering of cows and calves. This regula-
tion was called "obrét rytualny" (ritual turnj. Our business started
to deteriorave because of this situation. My father had four sisters
in the United States: Chane Kuperman, Kose Altman, Jeni Hecht sand
Charne Schwartz. They sent proper documents to my father so that he
could go to USA. My father went To USA with the expectation that he
will bring over his family when he estatlishes himself in USA. My life
changed considerably wken my fatkher left. I tecame the head of the
family. My motkter's family helped us financially. My mother was de-
pressed and was suffering very much. I still have in my possession
post cards written by my mother and my brothers to my fzther.

Wwe nad very active Zionist organizations in our town. Among them was
Banoar Haivri and Hashomer Hatzair. These organizations preparea their
members for the emigration to Palestine {(today Israel) using spiritual
and physical (Eahshara) methcds. I was T00O young to be actively in-
volved in any particular organization. I and my friends used tToO attend
their meetings where we met the prettiest girls. My favorite organi-
zation was Gordonia because the prevtiest girls were members there.

Rokatyn weas famous for its young Jewish people. There were Two gim-
nazjums in Rohatyn. Jewish people were not admivted To pursue higher
education; they had to go to Italy or otker countries to continue



Wwe had a famous soccer team named Maccabi.

The situation before the outbreak of the war was tense. We were aware
of Hitler's activities in Germany. We were still hoping that my fa-
ther will be able to send us the documents for our emigration to USA.

My trother Shmul was very bright. He was working for my mother's broth-
er Morris Barban who was lawyer:; this helped us financially. Life was
very cifficult; My mother developed arthritis; she had extreme head-
aches. She did her best under very difficult circumstances to be a

good mother to us. She ket a very clean house and we were always

well dressed. Our lives were "put in limbo". We missed our father and
waited for his letters which were scarce. This made my mother very
depressed.

I rerwember a Jewish doctor from our town Dr. Leventer and his wife.
They left for New York in 19329 bvefore the outbtreak of the war To

visit the world exhibition there. Dr. Leventer promised that he will
speak to our father. He left his only son Marcel with his family in
Kohatyn. Dr. and Mrs. Leventer could not return to Rohatyn because the
war broke out. They never saw their son again.

We envied everyone who wes leaving for USA. We were hoping every azay
to receive the letter from my father and the visas which would have
permitted us to emigrate to USi. My father was very disappointed in
USA: he missed us very much. I always had a feeling that his sisters
in USA were not too eager for my father to bring over another four
persons to USA. My father was talking about returning to kohatyn.

I really do not ¥xnow exactly the whole story. The visas from my fa-
ther never came.




Life under Soviet occupation, September 1939 - June 1941

I remember ttat the weather during the summer of 1639 was the nicest

we ever had. There were many Jewish people from nearby tig towns vaca-
tioning in Rohatyn. The markets were'filled with abundance of fruits
and vegetables. People were preoccupied with the politvical situation

at that time: Hitler demanded "Lebensraum" (room to live) and the first
land that he wanted was the "Polish Ccrridor" (narrow strip of land
between Germany and Prussia) and the free city of Danzig which was zt¢
that time an international port (today this city, Gaansk belongs to
Poland).

Our hopes to emigrate to United States were fading with each day. We
were depressed reading the newspapers; Hitler claimed that the Jews
weére responsible for the deploratle economic situation in Germany.
Wwhen Czechoslovakia ang Austria were invaded by Germans (1938) we
knew that Hitler's threats had to be taken seriously. Some of cthe
wealthy Jewish beople were thinking of escaping to Palestine (today
Israel) but by then the roads to Palestine were closed and it was im-
possitle to obtain a passpcrt. Unrest grew from day to day. The Poles
were very hopgeful; they believed that the Polish army was strong ard
will defeat Hitler. The Ukrainiars were exgecting the Germans with
great joy; they believed that the Germans will defeat Poland wkich
Will result in the formation of an independent Ukrainian government.
In the meantime the whole town was in a panic; we did not kncw what
Lo expect. in the middle of September 19539 the situaction in TOown be-
came critical: there was an anarchy The Polish government officials
and tvhe Polish army ran away. The neightoring peasants realizing this,
began to massively flew to the town.

Inen suddenly something unexpected happened. On September 17, 1939
instead of the German army, the town was occupied by the Soviet army
(Red Army). Apparently, most of the people were not aware of the
German-Soviet pact whereby Poland was to be divided; Soviets were to
occupy the eastern part of Poland and the Germans were to occupy the
western part of Poland. Thus Rohatyn found itself under Soviet occupza-
tion. The Jews believed that they were saved (from German destruction).
The Poles looked at the Red Army as invaders; they would have preferred
the Germans (they believed that they could defeat the Germans). The
Ukrainians were devastated; their hope for an independent Ukrainian
goverrment was shattered. The Ukrainian property owners escaped to




Lwéw; they were afraid of the Russians. Their property was confiscaved. ¥

The property of the Jewish merchants was also confiscatved except for
the merchants who were in the food business; they had to stay in their

stores to supply food for the Red Army.

I finished my elementary education (7 classes) before the Red Army
marched into Rohatyn. My younger brother, Samuel worked in a bar as a
waiter. My youngest brother, Edmund (loshe Emanuel) went to school.
It was very difficult to get a job. I helped my uncle (my father's
brother, Isidore) in his butcher store. He was helping us financially
and supplied us with meat. It was extremely hard for my movher; she
was a very proud person and now she had to depend on the family to sup-
port her and her children. I remember, she was in tears very ofven.

I learned how to do some electrical work, but I did not get paid for
it. LEowever. in retrospect the worx with electrical eguipment helped
me a great deal during the German occupaticn.

First, we were happy that the Red Army occupied our town instead of the
Germans; but laver we were very disillusionea with the Soviet system.

I do not remember being hungry because as I menticned tefore, the rela-
tives helped us. We were receiving post cards from our father, tut we
gave up all hopes to emigrate to United Statves. The anti-semitvism
decreased during the Kussian occupation of Kohatyn; the anti-semites
were themselves oppressed by the Russians. The Russians decided to de-
molish some empty stores in the "rynek" (market place) and to build
there a park with the statue of Stalin and Lenin. Tkey took all young
men to dig for this park. I had vo work there twice a week without any
pay. My hands were full of blisters and calluses. When I came home
afver this work, I noticed tkat my mother was looking at my hands; she
was crying.

I remember one big event in town during the Russian occupation. The
femily Grad were very prominent citvizens of our town. They owned a
very successful textile business. They were very charitable to Jewish
and other organizations. When the Russians occupied our town they con-
fiscated 2ll merchandise from the wealthy tusiness people. Somebtcdy
reported to the Kussian authority that the Grads were hiding merchan-
dise in vheir home. The Grads were arrested and a very lengthy public
trial took place. The public attended the court proceedings every day.
This vrial was z tig sensation in the town. In the end. the Grads were
found guilty and they were deported to Siteria. The irony of life is
thkat they survived the war becauss of this event.
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During the Russian occupation the Jewish population in Rohatyn almost
doubled. Large number of Jewish refugees from German occupied towns
settled in Rohatyn. We felt sorry for them because they lived in total
poverty; we were, after all, living in our homes.




_Under German Occupation - Life In Rohatyn Ghetto: end of 1941 -
March 20, 1942

On Wednesday. July 6, 1941 at six o'clock in the evening. the Soviet
Army left Robhatyn without firing a shot. The German army marched in
their place. The Soviet army left behind at the railroad station heavy
ammunition and miscellaneous bullets.

The non-Jewish population went to the streets to welcome the long-
awaited German army. Of course no Jews were to be seen. The first
thing what the Germans did, was to take a tath in the municipal bath
house (being such "clean people"). Since our house was located not far
from the municipal bath house (faznia), we could hear in our house the
whole night their drunken shouting and laughter. We were very scared
as there was no adult male in our house. The four of us huddled in my
mother's bed clinging to each other and shaking. This is how we spent
the first night under the German occupation.

The next day it gquieted down bul the fear did not leave us. On Szturday,
July 9, 1941 (first black Saturday) the Christian youth began to gather
in the market place; from there they went to the new parts of zarkel
place where most of the Jews lived. Terrible shouts and cries were
heard when the attackers pulled the Jews from their homes. Everybody
was panic-stricken. There was no place to escape tvo, as most of the
roads were closed. The Jewish males were forcibly taken by the Germans
to the synagogue (Beis Hamidrash). The plan was to put the synagogue

on fire {(with the Jewish people in it) after taking all their valuables.
The plan did not materialize at this time. Many rumors circulaved as

to the reason for aborting this plan by the Germans. Some people specu-
lated that a refugee from Cracow accidentally met a colleague from a
German university who was now 2 doctor in the German army in Rohkatyn.
This doctor, upon prodding and begging by his colleague (the refugee
from Cracow), intervened with the Germans on behalf of the Jews - so
this plan dic not materialize. I heard another rumor chat a veautiful
local women went %o the Germans and sold her body in exchange for the

freedom for the imprisoned Jews.

Wwe svarted to suffer from hunger. The Germans confiscated fcod for
their army. Even the local peasants had to give them their cattles.
The Germans were catching Jews on the streets and ordered them to
clean government buildings. Since we were young, tvhey did not bother
us. Nevertheless, they took me and some other Jewish boys to the rail-
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road station to gather all that heavy ammunition (which the Russian
army left behind, as I mentioned before). This worxk was very hard and
dangerous in as much as there was some live ammunition. In addition tvo
the fact thet we were very hungry, this work was also very tiresome.

By the end of 1941, a ghetto was estavlished in Rohatyn with prominent
Jewish citizens of Rohatyn appointed to the Judenrat (Jewish Council).
Only the head of the Judenrat (Shlomo Amarant) had a direct contact
with the Germans. For instance, when the Germans needed workers, they
novified the head of the Judenrat tvo supply the people who were oraered
to report immediately to the Germans. The members of the Judenrat
believed that they and their families will be spared when the Jews will
te sent to ccncentration camps. The ghetto area started at the market
place and extended to the river "Gnila Lipa". Our house was within the
ghetto area, so we did not have to move. The entrance to the ghetto

was closed with gates, guarded by Jewish policemen. The Jewish police-
men had armbands on tkeir left sleeves with vhe insignia "Jewish Aux-
illiary Policeman! The ghetto was crowaed; some houses had several
families living together in one room. (Jews who lived ouside of thre
boundary of the ghetto, were brought to live inside of the ghetto
area). Jews suffered from hunger in the ghetto starting from the first
month. The Germens forbade the peasants to supply food to the Jews in
the ghetto. You could see on the streets in the ghetto people swollen
from hunger. Pecple with money somehow managed to get some food from
daring peasants. In tke months September and October 1941, the Germans
brought some heavy equipment and digged aitches for defense ourposes,
as we thought (but these ditches were for graves, as we found later).
In the early spring and during harvest time 1942. more food was avail-
able in the ghetto; the peasants found ways to bring food to the ghetto
in exchange for clothing, jewelry and money.



March 20, 1942 - 1°% %ixtion (akcja 1)

On March 19, 1942, my cousin Chaim Blaustein, who was a butcher, asked
me to cocme to his house early next day. He acguired some meat which he
wanted me to distribute to his good paying customers; as a reward for
ay efforts he would also give me some meat. On tke 202 of warch 1v42,
I came to my cousin at 6:00 A.M. His house was located across the street
where butcher stores used to be. He gave me the packages of meat and
vold me where to deliver them. By that time itv was 7:00 o'clock A.M.

As I came out of the house, I glanced to my left, which was facing the
Ukrainian church (cerkwia). A1l of a sudden I noticed approximately

> Gestapo men (normally Gestapo men did not come into the ghetto; they
were statiorned in Stanislawbw); they were taxing rifles from their
shoulders and started to shoot people around them. It was still early
in the morning so there no too many people on the streets. I ran back
intc the Blaustvein's house. In their building there was a passage which
led to another street. I thought that from this street I would be able
to make it to my house and inform my family what was going on. But when
I came to the other end of the passage, I saw Gestapo men also in this
vicinity shooting people as well. I realized that I could nct run any
further because I would get shot. I ran into the closest house. The
peorle in this house were still asleep; I knocked hard on their door.
The name of the pecple who lived in that house was Cytvryn. Finally they
opened the door; when I told them what was happening, tkey did not
believe me, they ignored me. They did not believe that something like
this. could happen. But when they looked out of tke window, they real-
ized that wbat I told them was true. By that time the Gestapo men were
approaching their house. We locked the door. The Gestapo men started

to scream "Verfluchte Juden, Raus!" (Damned Jews, Qut!). They ripped
the door open and barged into the house. They started vo taxe out 5 or
6 people out of the house, lining them against the fence and shooting
them. There were approximately 30 people in tkat house; there were
small children, old people and pregnant women. I still kear their
screams, when I cannot sleep at night. Somehow I managed to be the last
in the line to be dragged out. Finally I noticed that I am next in line.
When I saw that they are coming closer to me, I noticed a closet (ward-
robe) near-by. I crawled and jumped into this closet. (When I think

"Expulsion or annihilation of Jews in ghettos or other concentracion
points by Germans.




now about it, I felt like something pulled me into this closet). I was
hanging on with all my strength in that closev. When it quieted down
and the screams stopped, I knew that everybody was shot. 2 Gestapo men
came into the room where I was in the closet. One Gestapo man said to
the cther: "there was a young fellow here" (Bin Junger Bursch). Buv

the other Gestapo man replied: "I fihished him off". Then they left.
After approximately two hours, I came out of the closet. A woman with

a baby in a bed ( she recently gave birth to the baby) was sitting up
in the bed. Her eyes were open. I walked over to talk to her. When she
d:d not answer, I touched her and she fell; her blood was streaming
out. They shot her and the taby in bed. Her husband was an assistant
ckief of Jewish police; he was not home at that time Their name was
Ealpern (no relation to Kosette). All of a sudden the woman's bDrother
came out from under the covers of a near-by bed. He became hysterical;
I guieved him down. I asked him whether there was a cellar in the house.
He told me that there was no cellar in the house but there was an attiic.
The access to the attic was from outside; there was a ladder outside.
We waited to be sure that there was gquiet outside. he said that he will
go first and I should follow him. As I was abocut tvo follow nhim, I kezrd
a shot. I saw him falling down from the ladder. I backeda up into the
house. I tore up the pillows and the down guilts. I made a mess all
over and crawled under the bed. Two Gestapo men came back to the house.
But when they saw the feathers all around, they did not walk into'che
room (being such "clean" people). They did not want Jewish feathers on
their uniforms. But they did not mind Jewish tlood on their uniforms
wrkich splattered on them during their murders. I stayed under the bed
for another few hours. “hen it became quiet, I crawled out from under
the bed. I looked out of the window; I did not see a living person. But
what I saw, I will never forget as long as I will live. There were dead
people scattered in the front yards of every house; there were little
children, women and old people. The blood was all over the yards. When
I came out of the house, I could still hear shots from the aistance.

My house was guive far from where I was. I was afraid to run tvoward my
house because I was all alone. I went back in thke direction of the
Blaustein's house; but then I realized that I was all alone and I did
not see anyone alive. I was then near the house where my school friend
lived. Eis*family lived in the basement of this house. There was no
father there. I did not know whether the father died or left his fami-
ly. They were very poor. I walked into the basement apartment. The fami-
ly was hiding under tke down gquilt. At first they did not move but when
tkey heard me calling their names, they came out from under the gquilt.

*z nother and three children.




When they saw me, they cried from joy. I told them that I still heard
shots and that we had to stay hidden. I was very relieved that at
least I was not alone. Their apartment consisted of one room; the bed
took almost the whole space in the room. There was hardly any room
for me. I saw a closet (my favorite hiding place). Since they were so
poor, there was not too much stuff in that closet. I went into that
closet. I was tired and scared but I dozed off. I stayed in that
closet until dawn. Then we heard voices outside.

Jewish policemen knocked at each door. They told everybody that the
Aktion was over and that the Gestapo left the ghetto. I was very
anxious to go home. I did not know whether my family was alive. On the
way to my house I saw dead people all around. First I looked at their
faces and I recognized the people I knew. 4s I was coming closer to
my house, I stopped looking at the dead faces for fear that I might
see somebody from my family. 4s I came closer to my house, my mother
and my brothers ran out of the house with joy and tears in their eyes;
they were sure that I was killed.

When the Germans came to our town, my mother had an idea to move a tig
closet to an opening leading to a big attic. She indicated that since
we did not have a mzle adult, we could Lide in the atvtic. She told us
that during the pogroms when the Kozaks (Russian band) had come to
rape the wdmen, This had been their hiding place. So this was the
place where my mother, my brothers and all our relatives (wko lived

in this house) were in hiding on March 20, 1942. I was sorry that in
the morning of March 20, 1942 I left my bouse. But in retrospect, this
day gave me experience for what was in store for me in tThe coming
months. I learned a lesson of survival - which was to take chances in
order to survive. I also learned to look at blood and dead peorle
without bteing afraid.

On March 21, 1942, tkhe Judenrat received an order to recruit about ten
young peoplE(I,was among them) to go to The outskirt of the town (the
area where the Germans had previously brought in eguipment and digged
ditches, &s I menticned before). Some older people came along to cb-
serve and to help out. This place was abouv 4 km (2% miles) from our
town. The Germans gave us shovels and told us that we were going tTo
bury the people who were taken to this pPlace alive and were shot there
on March 20, 1942. On the way to this place (where the ditches were)

we had to gather the dead people who were shot in the ghetto (on March
20, 1942) and to put them on sleds driven by horses. It was a very cold




day. We saw frozen bodies scattered all around. Some o0ld people could
not walk, so they shot them. We had to gather them on sleds and tring
them to the ditches. When we finally came to the area where the ditches
were, we could not believe our eyes what we saw. First, we started to
vomit and we were blackening-out. There were about 3,000 people dead,
frozen one to another. In order to bury them, we had to separate them.
Children were holding on to their mothers; their fingers were frozen
and we were unable to separate them. We had to throw them into the
ditches (there were two ditches). We kept burying them. The soil was
frozen. Hands, arms and legs were protruding from under the soil. It
was impossible to cover them completely. Most of them had open eyes.

I recognized some of tkem. Fortunately there was nobody from my imme-
diate family. We had to take treaks. It was impossible to do it con-
tinuously. It was very cold but I did not feel iv. We were numb. We
wor<ed for a few hours. After this experience I was never the same.

A Jewish policeman came with us. He told us that it was enough for

one day. For the next two weeks we had to go back there. As the soil
started to thaw, the bodies starved to rise to the top of the ditches.
We had toc cover them over and over. As the time progressed, we became
completely numb: we did not have any feelings.

The ghetto became almost empty afver March 20, 1942. Over 3,000 Jews
were murdered. Some 100-110 familes survived. Everybody was walking
around like zombies. It seemed as if everybody was in mourning. The
Germans started to bring invo the ghetto Jewish people from surrounding
towns and villages (Bursztyn, Bolszowce, Bukaczowce and others). Every-
body lived in fear. The survivors were trying to build hiding places.

- Now we realized what the Germans were capable of doing (incidentally
the head of Gestapo in Stanistawow, responsible for the massacre of
Jewish people in Rohatyn ghetto, was a murderer by The name of Krliger).
Everyday there were rumors that the Gestapo will return. At night we
took turns to be on the look-out. In oraer for others to sleep, one
person was always on guard. Luckily, in our house we were all alive
after the 20%h of March 1942 Aktion.

Since the March 20, 1942 Aktion, life had not been the same. We lived
in consvant fear. Everybody was trying to build hiding places. When &
truck passed by the ghetto. we were running into hiding places. Even
the children, when playing, were trained to svay close to the hiding
places.

I was assigned by vhe Judenrat to ao some eletrical work in the police




station (this building belonged once to a lawyer by the name of Zlatkes).
Each time when I did not do a good job, (Iwas not a professional elec-

trician) the Germans were beating and kicking me. But in spite of tkis,
I was glad to be there. The workers in the kitchen in this building,
where I used to go to, took pity on me; they gave me some bread and
other food which I took home for my family.




Death Of My Grandmother Leah Barban

One day in July 1942 my mother left me to watch my grandmother, Leah
Barban (she lived with us in the ghetto). My grandmother was sick with
typhus. She was holding my hand. I kept looking at her; she opened hLer
eyes, looked at me and stopped breathing. She expired. We had a problem
\to bury her. Some people came to pray and to wash her. But ncbody was
willing to help us to bury her. So, my brothers, two of my cousins and
I, carried her to the cemevery. The cemetery was far frcm the ghetto.
It was a hot day. We had difficulcties to carry her. Then we had to dig
the grave; the soil was hard. we took turns as we had only one shovel.

As 1 previously indicaved, I loved my grandmother very much. She was
very respected, even by the gentiles. She was a midwife; she delivered
about 90% of bsbies in town.

We were grieving for her, but on the other hand we were graveful to
God that she died a natural death (although from a sickness).




229 pxtion (Akcja 2) - Yom Kippur Day 1942

On the eve of Yom Kippur we went to Kol Nidre services which took place
in a neighbor's house (the third house from us). The neighbor's name
was Leibel Podhorcer. There was a big kitchenin that house wkere the
services took place. Women were praying in an adjacent room. After

the services we went home. The following morning we went back to tke
same house for Yom Kippur services. All of a sudden just as the men
were putting on their tallithim, we heard shots (I and other males

of my age, did not put on tallithim; in those days a male did not

wear a tallith until his wedding day. I do not know whether this was

a custom only in our part of Poland). We looked out of the window.

We saw Gestapo men shooting people around them (I noticed a young
woman being shot; her name was Rothenberg). The men dropped their
tallithim: everybody started to run to their hiding pflaces. Since

there were only a few Gestapo men in the ghetto at that time, we man-
aged to get safely to our house. I was with my middle brother Ssmuel
(Miko); my mother stayed home with my youngest brother Emanuel (Munio).
%hen we came home. we moved the closet and went to the attic (our
hiding place). Shortly afterwards we heard Gestapo men entering our
house. We were very quiet. Unfortunately my aunt Malkah Altman being
sick with typhus, was moaning loudly. We held a rag to her mouth: we
almost choked her. At night, at about 2:00 A.M. I Took my mother, my
brothers and my two cousins and we escaped vo tkhe police station.

While I was working tkere previously, I prepared a very good hiding
place in tke cellar. I assumed tvhat nobody will look for Jews in a
German police station. We stayed in the cellar throughout the night.

We were very hungry. Since I was familiar with every corner there, I
knew wkere they stored food. I left the cellar, The Germans did not
pay atiention to me because they were used to see me there. I went O
the kitchen and other places and I got some bread and otker food. I _
brought the food down to my mother, brothers and cousins. I even dared
to take my middle brother (Miko) with me so that he could carry some
food too: right under the noses of the Germans. I knew that there was

a good view of the ghetto from the attic of this building. I wanted

to see what was going on; so I went to the attic. I found in the attic
two men and one man's wife. They were taylors. They used to come to the
police station to sew clothing for the Germans. Tkeir name was Freiwald.
They were very good friends of our family. They had the same idea as

I had; that they could hide there too. They were considered the best




taylors in vown. Around 2:00 P.M. we noticed that the Gestapo men were
packing to leave the ghetto. All of a sudden we saw the Gestapo men
capturing three men. One of them was a school-mate of mine by the name
Schnaps. The other man's name was¥Rothenberg and the third man's name

I do not remember. From the attic window we saw that the three men

were ordered to kneel down. A's the Gestapo men were taking off their
rifles, my friend Schnaps and the other man escaped. The Gestapo men
shot kothenberg and ran after my friend and the other man. They captured
the two men, brought them back and shot them. There was a Catholic
church in the vicinity: we saw Catholic priests observing this incident

and laughing.

The Gestapo men finally left the ghetto. I d4o not remember whether the
Gestapo men came that day from Stanisiawow or Tarnopol. At night we
came btack to our house. The next day we were informed that the people
who were caught during the Yom Kippur Aktion, were taken to the rail-
road station and deported to Belzec death camp.

Fortunately, our family survived in our original kiding place.

Fe was & brother of a young woman who was killed before, as I mentioned.




Brd Aktion (Akcja 3) - December 1842

After the Yom Kippur Aktion life went on in fear. Every day there was
a rumor that the Gestapo were coming back. Several times during the
day we ran to the hiding places. I still continued to work in the
police station as an electrician.

In the middle of Octvober 1942, the ghetto area was reduced. We kad To
move to another house. This house belonged to a family by the name of
Schnexrutz. This house was not big enough for our entire family; some
members of our family moved to a house owned by Dr. Melnik who had
two houses located in the ghetto area.

I contracted typhus and developed a very high temperature. iost of the
time I was unconscious.

In the morning of Tuesday, December 8, 1942, Gestapo from Tarnopol
entered our gretto. (The head of the Gestapo in Tarncpecl was a mur-
derer by the name of Muller). The Gestapo closed all exits from the
ghetto. Everything happened very fast. My mother and my brothers
dragged me to the hiding place in the Schnekrutz's house. There were
two hiding places in this house. There was an attic ana a cellar.

I helped to dig a hiding place in tvhe cellar. I did not xnow that an
Aktion was in progress; I also did not know that I was bteing dragged

To thke avtic. The people, present in the house decided that the adults
hide in the attic and the young children with their mothers hide in

the cellar (Basement). Since young children cannot sit guietly ana tvend
- to be noisy, it was thought that it was less likely to hear them from
outside when they were in the cellar. ily aunt Malkah Altzan and her
daughter Clara hid in the cellar together with other women and children
of our family.

I regeined consciousness in the attic; my fever broke. First, I did notv
know where I was. My lips were dry; I needed water. But wken I saw

what was happening and when I saw my mother and my two btrothers, I kept
quiet. A1l of a sudden we saw from the cracks in the floor, Gestapo
men dragging people out of the cellar. There was a rumor that a Jewish
policeman pointed out to the Germans the hiding place in the cellar
where mothers and children including members of our family were hiding.
The Gestapo took them to the railroad station, put them in cattle

cars and deported them tc Belzec death camp. The Gestapo thought that
the cellar was the c¢cnly place in the house used for hiding, so they aid




not search the house anymore.

In other houses the hiding places were so crowded that many little chil-
dren suffocated; there was not enough air in some of vhese places (bun-
kers). In one instance a mother attempted to stop her baby from crying
when Gestapo men were in the house - as a result the baby suffocated.

At the end of the day, over 1000 Jews were captured and deported tTo
Belzec death camp.




"The Liguidation of Rohatyn Ghetto - June 6, 1943

After the December 1942 Aktion, the mood in the ghetto was gloomy. We
heard that there were no Jews left in the surrounding towns. We felt
that our end was near. In May 1943 we heard that the Gestapo surrounded
the ghetto in Peremyshlyany (a town app. 50 km north of Rohatyn) and
slaughtered all Jews in the Peremyshlyany ghetto. The Jews in the
Peremyshlyany ghetto were less prepared than we were. Therefore the
Gestapo were very successful there and liquidated the ghetto in one day.
Wwe thought that after the Peremyshlyany massacre we would be next.
Peremyshlyany belonged to oblast (region) of Lwow. We belonged to oblast
(region) of Stanisiawdw (today Ivano Frankovsk) which was under a dif-
ferent administration. This was the reason why we were spared for a few
weeks. After the Peremyshlyany massacre we were sitting in our npiding
places day and night. There were many false alarms.

In the morring of June ©, 1943 wkich fell on the first day of Shavuot,

at six o'clock in the morning, our ghetto was surrounded by Gestapo. ke
heard skots. We knew that our end has come. The liquidation of the Hohatyn
ghetto has begun. Somehow I always planned that when this time would

come, I will take my family and run to the hiding place of Shie Glotzer
(Luci's family); butv when I started, I knew that we could not make it.

Tre Gestapo were all over the ghetto. I, my mother, my trotvhers and a

few of my cousins ran back into our kiding place (in the attic of our
house). This hiding place (I called it bunker) could not accomodate so
many people since there were people from all over the ghetto. Some people
came from outside - they were already shot. They were screaming from pain;
blood was all over. It was difficult to breatkhe. There was a total chraos.
I knew that if we stayed there, we would die. There was anotker hiding
place in a barn; there was an attic on top of that barn. I ran up to that
attic with my middle brother and my cousin. We wanted to see whether we
could kide there. When we came up, there were already people hiding tvhere.
There were a lot of people from the surrounding towns. I wanted to bring
up my mother and my youngest brother who at that time were in the hiding
place in the barn. Unfortunately the Gestapo were already downsvairs, so

I could not get to them. I was looking down from tke attic to see what

was haopenlng The Gestapo were accomranied by an Ukrainian bty the name
of ‘Melnik. This Usrainian spcke fluently Yiddish. He shouted out in Yiddish:

“%ifter the war he disappeared and was never found.




"Jews, come out, the aktion is over'". They all came out including my
mother, my youngest brother Moshe Emanuel and my cousins. They were all

shot by the Gestapo, as I watched from the attic.

My mother Toba Glotzer was 45 years o0ld and my brother Moshe Emanuel was
13 years old when they were so brutally murdered by the Germans. Wiy moth-
er was a very loving person; she was a devoted wife and mother who in
spite of many problems and difficulties maintained a clean home and
always made sure that her sons were well fed and dressed. She was very
valented with her hands - she used to make beautiful needlepcints and

to crotchet curvains. She came from an aristocreatic family; she was
truly & remarkable woman, a woman of valor (eisches chayil).

I acorea my little brother Moske Emanuel. Ee was a very bright boy and

a very good student in school. We sent some of his report cards to our
father in USA. These report cards are now in the National Holocaust
ljuseum in Washington. D.{, 4is I mentioned eesrlier, he used to follow me
everywhere but I did not miné it because I loved him so muck.

It was very shocking and extremely psinful for me when they were murder-

ed in frontv of my eyes.

My midale brother who was with me guestioned me why we were not going
to tring over my mother and my brother. he did not see what I saw. When
I did not answer, he understood. He became hysterical; I had to quiet

kim down.

We were sitting in that attic for the next few days without any food.

I could not go down to retrieve the bodies of my mcther and my brother
because the Gestapo were all over. I noticed when I looked around and

as far as I could see there were btodies everywhere. One day when it was
raining very hard, we came down from the attvic at night ana sneaked

into a house to find some food. It was quiet. We decided vo look whether
there were still some people in the ghetto. We walked into a house. The
house was full of smoke. The name of the family in this house was
Mailmen. We started to shoutv that there was a fire but the father of
that family said that he himself put the house on fire. Ee said tvhat he
and his family would rather burn than te shot by the Gestapo. This house
was owned by an egg merchant by the name of Schors. There was a Lkiding
clace in the basement of this hcuse. we went down; I knocked on the door
tut nobody answered. The people there did not want the smoke to enter
the basement. When I called out my name, they opened the door. My cousin
Clara Glotzer (sister of Tonia Czekay) was there. There were other people

wkhom I xnew. I remember 2 girl by the name of Stryjer who was also there.



The place started to fill up with smoke.

We knew that we had to get out of this house. At night when it was rain-
ing very hard I took all of them with me to the attic hiding place above

the barn.

During the next night we left the ghetto.




Hiding Out After The Liguidation Of The kohatyn Ghetto. 1943
A. Initial hiding atvtempts.
We kept going on to the outskirts of the town avoiding places where we

could be seen. We came to the part of kohatyn which was called Babince;
we then separated. The girl by the name of Stryjer and a doctor with
his wife by the name of Kudish went to some genviles whom they knew.

I, my brother and my two cousins Clara Glovzer and Josie iltman went

to a Polack by the name of Sikorski on the suggestion of Clara Glotzer.
Clara told us that she was supposed to meet her boy friend Ckaim
BElaustein in that Polack's house. This was prearranged before the ligui-
dation of the ghetto (I did not know about it). Chaim Elaustein never
made it there: he was most probably murdered during the liguidation of
the ghetto. Clara Glotzer told us that there was a hiding place in
Sikorski's Louse; so we headed ir that direction. %hen we czme there
Clara was very cdistraught because Chaim Blaustein was not there. 4 man
ty the name of Yankel Ouster was there; he was weiting there for his
girl friend. She also did not make it. He presumed that she was also
murdered during the ghetto liguidation.

we stayed in Sikorski's house in a hiding place which he prepared. He
gave us some focd. Aftver five days he told us that his wife was very
scared tc keep Jews under her roof since Germans were all around the
house. The most that he was willing to keep, were three people. So it
was decided that Clara Glotzer, my brother Samuel (Miko) and Yankel
Ouster would remain at Sikorski's. I tvold them that I and my cousin
Josie would be going to look for another hiding place in the wcods
neerby. when I find a place, I would ccme for them or I would send
"somebody to bring tkem to me. I remembered the surrounding area; I
used to go there with our help to buy cattle. I saw very dense woods.
I realized trhat perkaps these woods would be a good place to hide. I
rexembered that some of my very good school friends (Ukrainians) lived
on the way to the woods. when we came to the house (of these friends)
it was one o'clock at night. We knocked on their door and when they
saw us they started to shout: "get out of here or we will call the
Germans to get you". Anéd I considered them my best friends.

I then realized that nobody would help us; we had to get to the wcods.
It was dark butv somehow I knew that we were going in tke direction of
the woods. When we came to the outskirts of the town, we met scme
people from tke ghetto; they also had the same idea to go to the woods.
%e kept going together. We tried to avoid the centers of the villages.




We came to the outskirts of a village Pukow. One young Ukrainian on a
bicycle came toward us. We asked him for directions; he put his fingers
in his mouth and started to whistle and to scream: "Jews are here".

We started to run in different directions.

A1l of a sudden I realized that I am all alone; I could not see anyone
from the group. I went around the village Pukow and I noticed that I
was on the right road leading towards the woods. I was very scared
because I was alone. There was a hill; I climbed up. I was very tired
and I fell asleep under a tree. When I woze up it was daylight; I was
in the village of CzesSniki. I realized tkhat I could be very easily
seen from the village since I was on a hill. I startved to think in
what direction I skould go next. All of a sudden as I looked around

I saw my cousin Josie Altman and a young man coming towsrds me. I was
very happy. We had to be very careful since it was daylight. The Germans
often used this road; this road was leading to Russia.

We went into the bushes and we sat tvhere tkrough the daylight. when it
started to get dark, we tried to decide where to go next. Since the
yourng man who was with us, was from the village Lipica Gorna, we de-
cided to go in that direction. When we came to the outskirts of Lipica
Gbrna we were hungry, tired and scared. %e were also very thirsty; we
drank water from dirty puddles. I believed that if we would have

waited longer, we would have died from hunger. I decided, that as long
as I had some strength left, I would go down to the village to look for
food. I was so weak that I could hardly walk. I approached the first
house of the village. A woman was cooking in the kitchen. She was taking
out "palynechi" (one kind of the Ukrainian breads) from the oven. There
was a pot full of boiled potatoes and beets. I started to eat. The wo-
man did not turn around from the oven. I took out a pillow case from
her pillow and I filled it with food. She still did not say a word. I
took that food to my cousin and the young man. I felt tad that I did
not have any money to pay that woman for the food. My cousin and the
young man started to eat very fast; I was afraid that they would get
sick. Somehow I had a very good feeling abtout that womsn. I saw in her
eyes, when she looked at me, that she was sorry for me and that she
would nof harm me. The next day I went back to the same house for scme
more food. When I came in, the kitchen was full of food, as ii the
woman xnew that I would come back. She even handed me another pillow
case éo that I could pack some more food. In retrospect, this woman
saved three lives. Before I came to her house, the three of us were

o



thinking of surrendering ourselves to the Germans to be shot.

Before I left that woman's house, she told me that a man by the name

of Suchar Hauser, his daughter Dziunia and his son Lonek were hiding

in the village of Lipica Gorna. I knew Suchar and his family from the
ghetto. They were sent from Lipica Gorna where they used to live before
the war, to the Rohatyn ghettvo. When I came back with the food and I
told my cousin and the young man what the woman told me, The young man
got all excited and started to scream with joy: "Suchar Eauser is my
uncle". So we decided, when it would get dark. to go to the place where
Sucher and his family were hiding. The Germans were all over the village.
We were very scared, not only of the Germans but of the Ukrainians as
well. We had to crawl most of the way. Fortunavely, tThe woman gave ne

a detailed descrirtion of the place where these people were hicing. They
were in a barn hiding under hay and straw. First, when we called them,
they did not answer. Then the ycung man called out: "uncle Suchar" and
told him his name (I do not remember the name of this young m&n); they
looked out from under the hay and tolé us to come under the hay as well.
411 of a sudden the owner of that barn walked in. His name was Dubski.
Ee knew that Suckar and his family were hiding in kis barn. Butu wren

he saw us he could not believe that we could make it to his barn. kight
eway he brought in some food. We could see his kindness; we could feel
that he wanted to help us. We felt sorry for him because we put him in

a predicament. The Germans were all over the village. he hzd a big fami-
ly. I tolé Suchar about the woman who gave us food and told us where
they were hiding: Suchar told us that this woman was of a different
religion. She telonged to Jehovah's Witnesses (in Polish, Sobotnicy).
Suchar told us vhat Dubski was also of the same religious feith as this
woman. I feel, until today. that I owe my life to thkese kina people.
They made my survival possitle in my darkest hours.

We stayed in Dubski's barn two weeks. In as much as he wanted to help
us, he was very afraid. We felt that we were jeopardizing kis and kis
family's lives. He told us, he found out that there were Jewish people
from the Rohatyn ghetto, hiding out in the woods of the village of
Lupuszna. The Hausers stayed behind, tut I, my cousin and the young
man (Hauser's nephew) started tvo go in the direction of Lupuszna. The
Germens were all around. We believed that we could not make it alive ~

to Lupuszna We noticed a corn field with very tall corn stalks; so we
decided to stay in the corn field. At night we went down to the village.

We stole some food from the farmers while they were sleeping. We even




killed chickens and we made a fire at night to cook the chickens. We
sat in the corn field until one day we heard voices and noise coming
toward us. We realized that the farmers were coming to cut the corn.
Nearby was a very small wooded area; we ran there to hide. We stayed
there a few days. One day we saw a Polish peasant not far from the
place where we were. Somehow we knew that the peasant was not going to
betray us. We asked him for the directions to get safely to Lupuszna.
He told us how to get there. He also told us that Jewish people were
hiding there. It took us the whole night to get to the woods of

Lupuszna.
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B. Hiding out in the Lupuszna and Czesniki woods

We reached the woods of Lupuszna at daylight; adjoining, were the woods
of Czesniki. The village of Lupuszna was innatited mainly by Polish
farmers contrary to the village of CzesSniki where Ukrainians were the
sole inhabitants. When we arrived at the woods, we were amazed; about
180 people from the Rohatyn ghetto were there. I looked around and
somehow I felt safe there. The woods were dense and we were guite deep
in them. It was not easy to obtain food, but somehow, at night we man-
aged to get to the fields., adjacent to the woods, where the farmers
stored potatoes and vegetables. Close-by where we were hiaing, was a
small waterfall which supplied us with water for arinxking snd washing
ourselves. Nevertheless, it was very hard to preserve our hygienic
rezuirements. Day and night we were plagued with lice.

However our "peaceful exisvence" dida not last too long. Somehow the
Ukrainians from the village of Czesniki found out that Jews were hiding
in the woods;they informed the Germans. Sometime during the month of
July 1943 at 7 o'clock in the morning, tke Ukrainians from CzesSnici
together with Germans surrounded us and started to scream: "Verfluchte
Juden" (damned Jews) and were shooting in all directions. I starved to
run. ¥y cousin Josie Altman followed me. My school friend, Hune %Wohl

was also running behind us. I turned around: Ukrainians were chasing us.
I heard shots, I did not see my cousin, but I saw people falling being
shot. My school friend Hune Wohl fell; he was shot. At that time I
tripped on a tranch, I fell and I did notv move. I felt that sometody

- kicked me. I did not krow whether it was an Ukrainian or a German. They
thought that I was shot. I was just lying; my eyes were closed and I did
not move. I keard that they were moving away from me. Not moving I open-
ed my eyes. Dead peorle were all around me. I did notT hear any more
shootings. It was around 2 o'clock in tre afternoon. When I was sure
that the Germans and the Ukrainians left, I ran out of the woods into
the nearby fields. There was a ditch and I jumped into it.

All of a sudden I saw farmers who were working in the fields, approaching
me. They most probably saw me running from the woods and jumping into

the ditch. They were aware what took place in the woods. When they got
close to me, they told me that they were going to kill me. I said to
them: "I am sure that if you have God in your heart, you will not kill

me; and if you do not have God in your heart, you can kill me; but




before you kill me, please give me some water". I noticed thatT they had
on their belts, canteens with water and a stone for sharpening their
tools (sickles and scythes). They took off the canteens from their
belts and gave me to drink; the water was tlack but I drank it. I was
sure that my end had come. Somehow I was not scared; I resigned myself
to die. To my amazement after I drank the water, they left me and con-
tinued their work in the fields. I remained lying in the ditch. I
noticed that they were ready to go home because they were packing their
stuff. Then I saw them coming in my direction. I was sure that they
were coming to kill me. To my amazement they brought me food and they
left.

I waited until it got dark and then I slowly started to go back into
the woods. Prior to these killings in the woods, we estatlished azmong
ourselves one kind of a whistle, so we could acknowledge one another.
So coming back into the woods, I kept making tkat sound. I reard
that someone was answering me with the same sound. They asked for my
neme and I snswered. They came out from under the bushes. There were
six people and smong them was my cousin Josie altmen. Jcsie told me
that he saw Suchar Hauser's nephew, who was with us 2ll the time,

being short.
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C. Hiding out in the woods of Podwysokie, enda of July 1943

When we came back to the woods, we were afraid to go to our previous
hiding place where the killings by the Germans and Ukrainians took
place. We decided to cross over to the other side of Lupuszna where were
the woods of Podwysokie. The village of Podwysokie was inkabited mainly
by Polish farmers. There was one house close to the woocds. We took a
chance and knocked on the door. A Polish farmer (I forgot his name)
opened the door. First, when he saw us, he was very scared to let us

in. Then he looked at us, crossed himself and let us in. He gave us some
bread and milk. That bread and milk revived us. We kissed his hands and
he started to cry with us. We told him that we would be hiding in the
woods of Podwysokie for a few days. The woods of Podwysokie were not

as dense as the woods of Lupuszna. We knew that eventually we would

have to leave, Every evening he was tringing us food. One evening when
he came, he told us that the next day he would be going to kohatyn on
some business; so we should not expect him to come with food. But he
trought us enough bread, sufficient for the next day. When I heard that
he was going to Rohatyn, I begged him to go to the house where I left

my brother Samuel (Miko)vand my cousin Clara Glotzer (Toni Czekay's
sister). When I told him that they are in Sikorski's house, he knew

how to get there. I begged him to tell my brother to come with him to

join me in the woods of Podwysokie.

When that Polish farmer came back on the next day, he told me that he
saw my brother and my cousin. My brother told him that Le would come
and join me shortly. I was under the impression tkat my brother aid not
trust the Polish farmer. I kept waiting for my brother dbut he never
came. I even told the Polish farmer that if I would leave the woods of
Podwysokie, I would always let him know of my whereabouts in case my
brother came. After the liberation I found out that two weeks prior to
the liberation my brother and my cousin were betrayed by a man who was
hiding them in his house after they left Sikorski. My brother Samuel
(Miko) and my cousin Clara Glotzer were killed by the Germans Two weeks
tefore the liberation. Some people who knew my brother told me that he
always talked about having a brother in the woods of Poawysokie and he

was planning to join him. Unfortunately he never did.

My brother Samuel (Miko) was 17 years old when he was murdered. He was 2
very bright boy. I looked up to him even though he was younger than I.
He was a brilliant student. When my father left for USA, he was working




for my mother's brother, Morris Barban who was a lawyer. My uncle used
to tell my mother that my brother was a born lawyer. My mother was very
proud of him. I was always hoping until the liberation that he would
survive. But this was not the case. When I found out after the libera-
tion what happened to him, I reported to the Soviet authority the name
of the Ukrainian who betrayed my brdcher to the Germans (I do not remem-
ber his name). The Soviet authority deported the traivor to Siberia.

We were hiding in Podwysokie woods for about two weeks. Finally the
Polish farmer told us with regret that it was very hard for him to help
us. We never knew that he was sheltering a Jewish family in his house.
Their name was Acht; they had an infant. I was in touch with the achts
after the war. They emigrated to Israel. Last year Mr. Acht died.
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D. Hiding out again in the woods of Lupuszna

Lfter hiding in the woods of Podwysokie, we found out that a family by
the name of Wohl was still hiding in the woods of Lupuszna; so we figu-
red that if they were still there, it must te safe to go back there.
The woods of Lupuszna were dense; so we would much safer there. We

came back to the same place where the massacre took place before. We
did not see any corpses. We found out that the people who were killed
there were buried in the woods after the killings. We lived in fear,
but we were more cautious than before. At night we went to the fields
for potatoes. We caught some rabbits; they provided a very good nour-
ishment.

Sometime in August 1943 in the morning I woke up in my hiding spot. 411
of a sudden I felt that something was touching my foot. I opened my
eyes and I saw a rifle near my foot. I looked up and I saw a German
soldier. I was silently saying a prayer. I heard people saying this
prayer before they were shot. If I remember correctly it was "Shma
Yisrael" (Hear O, Israel). 411 of a sudden the German soldaier said to
us: "Do not be afraid of me (Eab keine Angst), I am the same as you."
First I thought that he was a Jew in a German uniform. When I came out
from my hiding spot I started to talk to him. I realized that he was
indeed a German soldier. Ee told us that he and some other German
soldiers deserted the German army near Kiev. They all went in different
directions. He found out that Jews were hiding in the woods, sc he
decided to go to the woods to hide with them. His name was Carl. He
said that Hitler was a madman; he could never win the war. So Carl
wanted to stay with us; we let him. We felt safe with him because there
was a rifle present. In the meantime Carl fell in love with a Jewish
girl who was hiding with us. Her name was Sunia. Her family came to
kohatyn during the Soviet occupation. Eer family was strictly orthodox
Jews. Her father and grandfather were rebbis; her mother wore a wig.
Sunia was a beautiful girl.

e stayed together until winter of 1944. In Februsry of 1944 there was
a rumor that Germans were supposed to come to the woods of Lupuszna.mj
Carl and Sunia left: they went to the village of Podwysoxie. We stayed

in the woods of Lupusznz. It was snowing very hard; everything was

covered in deep snow. We knew that the Germans were not able to come to
the woods of Lupuszna. Unfortunatvely the Germans were able %o come to




the woods of Podwysokie where Sunia and Carl were hiding; they thought
that the Germans would come to the woods of Lupuszna but not to tke
wooas of Podwysokie.

We found out that the Germans spotted Carl and Sunia. The Germans opened
fire. Carl kept shooting back (he took his rifle with him). Sunia was
shot first. The farmers told us (at a later date) that Carl was very
brzve. He shot and killed many German soldiers. When he was wounded ,
Sunia was barely alive. Carl shot Sunia and then shot himself.

Sunia and her family used to live in the Kohatyn ghetto, next house to
my cousins, Lusia and Rozia Glotzer. I used to see Sunia and her family
in the ghetto. She was not allowed to look at a boy; this is how ortho-
dox they were. The German soldier, Carl was very handsome and highly
educated. Sunia knew that her parents were no alive anymore. She

viewed Carl as her protector: she fell deeply in love with him and

died with him.

As 1 predicted, the Germans did not come to the woods of Lupuszna. Every-

thing was covered in deep snow. On one side, the falling snow was an

advantage to us; when we went down to tke village for food, our foot
prints were immediately covered with falling snow. Surviving was very
hard; we did not have warm clotning. My cousin Josie Altman and I shared
one pair of shoes. When I went for food, he stayed behind. We took turns
wearing the shoes. There was a man hiding with us; his name was Greenberg.
He had a wife. Since he hagd shoes, he used to go with me to the village
for food.
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E. Tragedy in our hiding place in the woods of Lupuszna, March 1944
heturn to the woods, April 1944

One morning in the beginning of March 1944 I woke up and I reminded
myself that our sack which we used for carrying potatoes, was torn.

Ve did not have a needle or thread in our hiding place. Since we had
only one pair of shoes, I and Greenberg left our hiding place; my cousin
and Greenterg's wife Stayed in the hiding place. We went to the Wohls'
hiding place; we knew that there was a needle and thread. The ¥ohls'
place was approximately 2 km from us. We started to sew the sack.
Suddenly we heard shots. It was very hard to distvinguish in the woods
from what direction the shots were coming because of the echo in the
woods. Somehow I had a feeling that the shots were coming froam the di-
rection of our hiding place.

We started to go back, but we were very cautious. As we came closer to
our hiding place, we saw an Ukrainiean; he wore a uniform. These Uxrain-
ians called themselves "Banderowce" after their leader Bandera. Their
mission was to destroy Poles and Jews. He noticed us and started to
shoot. We were running. He just kKept shooting but he did not run after
us. We knew that there were more of them inside our hiding place. The
snow around our hiding place was stained with blood.

We ran back to the Wohls; we told them what was happening. I looked at
my coat which I was wearing; it was pierced with burned bullet holes.
The bullets did not get to me because the coat was foo large for my
size. We ren out with the Wohls into a ditch. Deep down in my heart I
knew that all the others were dead including my cousin Josie aAltman,
Greenberg's wife and approximately 14 people who were hiding with us.

Josie Altman was 18 years old. We were very close. All our lives we
lived in the same house. His mother Malka Altman was my father's sister.
His father Max Altman emigrated to USA together with my father. Josie
was a very good student. Being with him I still felt that I had a fami-
ly. After this tragedy I found myself completely alone.

When it got dark we ran out of the woods To the outskirts of a village.
We noticed a house: we knocked on the door. Nobody answered. We walked
in. The house was not occupied. We were hiding there for about 2 weeks.

One day the owner returned; he was a Polish man. When he saw us, he was
more scared than we were. He told us that we could stay in the house,



pbecause le L1ved 1n Lupuszna,; once 1o & whlle he came TO Thal house.

Around April 1944, when the snow started to melt, we went back to the
woods. Somehow we felt safer in the woods in spite of all the happenings
there. Food was constantly a problem. We ate one meal a day, some bread
and a potato. What kept us going was the good news about the war wkich
we were hearing from the Polish people. They told us vhat the Kussian
army is as close as Tarnopol, some 70 km from us. That news gave us hope
that perhaps we would survive. | ’

One night, at the end of April 1944, we attempted to go down to the villa-
ge. The village inhsbitants were Polish people. One Pole in particular,

(I do not remember Lis name) was helping us with food. If not for him,

we would hazve died of hunger. There were other Poles in that village who
helped us with a good word about the war which gave us hope. On this
particular night, as we were going aown, we heard shots. all of a sudden
we saw flames of fire. The Uxkrainians found out that the Polish pecple
were helping the Jews. They shot the Polish people and burned their homes.
There were children and older people who were shot. It was very shocking
to us. Since these people lost their lives because of us, we felt guilty.
Wwhen we saw them shot arcund their burned homes, we felt rage and disgust.
We had a feeling that our ordeal was coming to an end. The people who
helped us to survive should not have been punished. Somehow I knew in my
heart that I would have To take revenge for all what happened. I felt

that T had nothing to lose. At that time I was still hoping that my
brother Samuel was alive.

We went back to the woods. One day while baking potatoes, we heard noise
of planes above us. The planes started to shoot (evidently when they saw
the smoke), but to our big joy we noticed Russian star on the planes. We
knew that the end of our lives as animals on the run, was close, Ve wait-
ed from day to day to hear from the Polish people that the Soviet army
was near us. We had to be very careful, since we knew tlrat the "Banderowce"
were on a rampage. They knew that their days were numbered, so they were
trying to do as much cernage as they could. Approximstely at the end of
May 1944, the Soviet army started to advance very fast in our direction
from Tarnopdol. We were still hiding hoping that the Soviets would get to
us before the "Banderowce" would. Wwe were going from place to place,

trying to keep szfe.
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The Soviet Army Arrival To The Village Of Lupuszna, June 6, 1944

On June 4 and 5, 1944 we heard shots. We presumed that th2 fighting was
going on very close to us. On June 6, 1944 the shooting subsided. We
sent down a young boy to the village. He was 10 years old. His name was
Kimmel. (In 1970 when I went to Canada to attend Bar Mitzvah of my cous-
in Lusia Glotzer's son Philip, Kimmel came to see me. Surprisingly he
did not remember or be blocked out of his mind what was happening to

us during those times). He was very young, so he was not afraid to go
down. We were eagerly waiting for him to come back.

All of a sudden we saw him running and shouting to us to come out of
our hiding place. We could hardly comprehend what he was saying. But
seeing his Jjoyful face, we knew that he was coming with good news. Vhen
he calmed down, he told us that the Russian soldiers liberated the vil-
lage of Lupuszna. We all svarted to cry, not believing that we were
free. We starved to run very fast towards the village. We still had to
be very careful not to be caught by the "Banderowce."

When we finally came down to the village of Lupuszna, we approached the
Russian soldiers. We told them that we were Jewish and what happened to
us. Somehow they did not seem to be much impressed or surprised of what
we were telling them. When we were sitting in the woods, very often we
were talking among ourselves that if by any chance we would survive, we
presumed that people would put us on a pedestal, rity us and would try
to help us. But now, when we were free, we were relating our story to
soldiers who were our liberators - and they just stared at us with blank
- looks.

Later we learned the reason for their response to us. They also lost
most of their loved ones from the claws of German barbarizns. They were
telling us about their experiences of a village with people being
burned alive before their eyes, about the destruction by German animals
before retreating and about thousgands of Russian civilians who were
killed. Then we realized that we were not the only ones who suffered

during this terrible war.

We were still hungry. Unforvunstely the Soviet soldiers could not help
us with food as they were hungry themselves. We had to go back to the
Polish farmers for food. They were very kind to us and gave us milk
and bread.




We could not go back to Rohatyn, because there were rumors that Germans
were still. in Robatyn, and there was a possibility that the Soviet army
might have to retreat. We decided to pPlay it safe and go back to the
village of Brzezany which was closer to Tarnopol; we were sure that
Tarnopol was under Soviet occupation for some times.

When we approached some more Soviet soldiers. it was the same all over.
Their response was the same. The Soviet army was in 2 bad shape. The
soldiers were hungry; they looked almost like us. They did not look to
us like the victorious liberators, we imagined.




Returning To Rohatyn - End Of June 1544

We were in Brzezany for about two weeks. Wken we heard that Lwow was
liberated, we knew that Rohatyn was also under the Soviet occupation.
We decided to go back to Rohatyn. We still had to be very careful since
the "Banderowce" were active in their killings.

Luckily the Soviet soldiers permitted us to follow them. Even, once in

a while they gave us a ride along their way in their trucks. They drop-
ped us off in the outskirts of Rohatyn which was called Babince. We
walked to Rohatyn and the first thing wkich I noviced, was a man walk-
ing with a cane and holding on to the ferces. When I took a closer look,
I recognized him. He was a very good friend of mine; his name was Bernard
Kessler. I was shocked to see him in this condition. He looked at us;

he was surprised how well we looked compared vo him. His first words
were "what kind of resort are you coming from?" At tkat time we looked
muck better than we looked during the times when we Ifirst came out of
the woods. We were fed by the Polish people and also the Soviet soldiers
in Brzezany had more food than the solaiers in Lupuszna. Our complexion
was very good because we were mostly oudoors.

My first question to Bernard was, whether he knew anything about my broth-
er Samuel. He knew. First he hesitated to tell me. From nis expression
and tears in his eyes, I knew wkat he would tell me. Finally he took my
hands in his hands and told me that my brother was killed two weeks prior
to the liberation. All my hopes were gone. I then realized that I was
the only surviving sibling. First, I was sorry that I survived, but then
a thought came vo my mind that I still had a father in USA. Bopefully
some aay I would join him. When Bernard looked at my face, he wanted to
cheer me up somehow. He told me with joy that he was hiding together

with my ccusins Lusia and kozia and their father Shbm-Glotzer. He told

me that they were alive and where they were presently living. I hugged
him and we both cried. Bernard left but he promised to be in touck with

us.

I went to the place where RBernard told me that I would find my cousins
their father. They were in a house previously owned by a man named
Amarand. There were more people in that house who also survived in koha-
tyn. wken I walked in, it took me 2 long time to recognize my cousins
and tkeir father. My cousins were very pretty girls before the war. Now

they were skin and bones; their father looked terrible.
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or to cry. After we calmed down, they told me that they were with 1l
people hiding in a basement of a government building in Rokhatyn. German
soldiers were upstairs. The janitor of this building supplied them with
food. First, I tkought how good-hesrted this janivor was. Then I found

out from other people who were in that hiding place, of his "good" will

to szve Jews. He sexually abused the women; they were at his disposal

like tvrepped animals. Everyday he threatened them that 1f they would not
perfora to his likings, he would send them upstairs to the German soldiers
(My cousins Rozia and Lusia Glotzer never recuperated from their orgeal.
They were sick all the time. They emigraved to Canada and became very
wealthy, but they constantly carried their experiences with them which
affected their health, subseguently in their lives. Lusia died in April

1699 and Rozia has all sorts of ailments).

Shiye Glotzer got very sick when he started to eat food. His stomach
shrank of lack of food and when he svarted vo eat he developed severe
diarrhea. Ee almost died. I toox him tvo a Catholic hospital; I wes with
him dey and night trying to help him to get better. It was "touch and go"
tut ke survived. I took him back to his daughters and we all lived toge-
ther. My cousins became like my sisters.

“hen I think back, we were all in a shock and we were not discussing
what happened. We still could not believe that we were alive; we did
not know whether to te glad or not. I was grieving for my brother. I
went to thke man who was hiding him prior vo his killing. Tke man told
me that my brother went looking for food and was killed. I knew that he
was lying. There was plenty of food in that house. People told me that

~before the Germans were about to leave, he betrayed all the Jews hiding

there. I went vo Soviet authorities, I told them that he was a traitor.
I kad to tell them that he killed Russian soldiers. They would not pu-
nish him for just betraying Jews. I did succeed; he was deported to
Siberiza.

My coming tack to Rohatyn was a very sad experience, Zvery corner remind-
ed me of my family. kany times I felt sorry that I survived. Being to-
gether with Lusia, Rozia and their father brought back memories of our
entire family. I had nightmares at night. I was dreaming that I was in

the woods and the Germans and Ukrainians were chasing me. When I woke up
I did not know whether I should be happy that I was alive.

When we were in the woods I imagined our liberation quite differently.




Perhaps subconsciously I was hoping that when I come "home to kohatyn"
I would find my family. But this was not the case.




Service in the Russian Army, July 1944 - jMarch 1946

I stayed together with oy cousins Lusia and Rozia and their father Shiye
Glotzer for about one month.

In July 1944 I received a notice to report to the Russian Recruiting Offi-
ce. I was drafted to the Russian army. I never expected this to happen
after what I went through. There were about 20 Jewish young men and

also a group of Ukrainians who were drafted. In a way we, the Jewish men
c¢ould have escaped from being drafted, but our comscience did not allow

us to do that. We felt that after what the German animals did to our
people, we have a moral obligation to participate in destroying them.

We had to go on foot, as far as to the outskirts of Przemyél. There the
Russian military officials gave us uniforms and shipped us on military

trucks to near Rzeszbw, Krosno and Jasio. There we were trained how TO

handle weapons. This area was behind the front lines. We were stationed
there until about January 1945.

Then the Russian offensive has started. The Germans were retreating
rapidly, but tusre was 5till heavy fignting going on. We zdvanced guite
fast through Poland until we came to the German borders. %e toox many
German prisoners. We had an order not to kill German civilians. But we
ignored this order. We felt that we were doing it for our killed families.
Finally we made it to a town near Xatowice named Rybnik. In the town of
Rybnik a very strong fighting was going on - practically from street to
street, from building to building. We were in a three story tuilding;

I was on the first floor of that building. Suddenly an artillery shell
hit the building and exploded on tke first floor where I was.

I was wounded in my left hand. I looked around for somebody to help me.
I noticed that everybody around me was killed. iany of the killed men
were my friends with whom I came from kokatyn. I was in & terrible pain.
Then medics came and I was taken away to the back of the fighting lines
to a military hospital. They bandaged my wounded kand. I stayed there for
a few days. Then I was shipped to another military hospital in Katowice.
From Xatowice they transferred me to a hospital in Lwéw. I was in Lwow

| rospital for about two weeks.

My cousin Lusia Glotzer found out what happened to me. Shke managed to
come to Lwow. It was amazing how she made it to lwow. %hen I saw her I

.



could not believe my eyes. The Ukrainisns were all over rebelling the
occupation of the land by the Soviets. She really sacrificed her life to
come to me. She went with me to the officials of the hospital. She ap-
pealed to them to give me a leave for a few days so that she could take
me to kokatyn. The hospiﬁal officials granted me a leave. It was a very
dangerous Jjourney, but somehow we made it safely.

I stayed with my cousins until the end of the war, May 8, 1945. After
May 1945 I was recalled back to my division. I reported to the superiors
in Lwéw. There were rumors that we would be shipped to Japan. These ru-
mors did nov materialiize as Japan surrendered in the mcantime. They sent
us to the fields to help the peasants to work on the harvest. By then
the Soviets took over the property of the farmers. Then we were shipped
to Bukovina, a region in Romania. From Bukovina we were transferred back

to Lwéw.

This was &already the end of September 1945. From Lwéw they shipped us to
Sambor. We had no idea what to expect in Sambor. Wwhen we came there we
were assigned to guard the German war prisoners. That was wkat I was
koping for all the time when I was in the woods running for my life like
an animal. Here I was in a Kussian uniform witk a rifle guarding my eneny
who caused so much pain to me and my people. I could 2ot belisve my good
fortune. My time for revenge has come. First of all I and other Jewish
soldiers told the German prisoners that we were Jewish. Just tTo see the
fear in their eyes was a pleasure. To watck them being hungry and cold
gave us a lift in surviving to tkis moment. The Russian superiors were
watching the Jewish soldiers very closely; they knew what we were capa-
ble of doing to these animals. But watching them like this, was & revenge
nevertheless. We knew that when it would get colder, they would be aying
like dogs. We did have a control over their food ratvions; they were dying
of hunger.

I was in Sambor until the beginning of 1946. We, the Jewish soldiers

found out that by law we were Polisk citvizens; therefore we could be dis-
charged from the Russian army. We registered ourselves with the hkussian
officials. One night in the beginning of 1946, we were sent to the out-
skirts of Sambor; we were told to go to the woods to look for "Banderowce'.
All of a sudden a Russian soldier came riding on & horse and calling out
my name. ¥%hen I approache@;him he told me that I was oraered to report to
my division in Sambor. I came back to Sambor to my division superiors.

I reported to them and told them my name. I asked why I had an order to
report. Somehow nobody knew. That was very typical of the Russian army;



the left hand did not know what the right hand was doing. I was very
tired, so I went to sleep.

In the morning I was awaken by my superiors. They &asked me whether I
wanted to leave the Russian army and to go to Poland. I was airaid to
teil them that this was what I wanted (for fear of being consiaered as
an anti-Soviet). But I told them that I was very tired and my family was

very anxious to see me. They gave me a loaf of black bread and two
herrings and told me "to leave immediately and that I was officially
discharged". I hitchhiked back to Rohatymn; it was around March 1946.




keturn to kokhatyn from tke Army

I came to the railway station in RKohavyn. I did not know whether any of
th? Jewish people were étill in Kohatyn. When I arrived I did notv know
in what direction to go. First of all I was all alone. I was scared, as
I knew that the "Banderowce" were still active in their murders. The rail-
way station was in the outskirts of the town. I approached an Ukrainian
and he told me that there was one Jewisk family in Rohatyn. Their name
was Stryjer. (I knew them from before the war). The Ukrainian told me
that the Stryjers were staying in the electric power house. I was fami-
liar with the electric power house since I used to work there during cthe
German occupation. Mr. Stryjer's first name was Mocie; he had a sisver.
The Stryjers had two sons; one son and Mr. Stryjer were in Russia during
the war. Mrs. Stryjer with another son were hiding with Lusia, Rozia and
their father Shiye Glotzer. One day the Stryjer's son went to look for
food and he was murdered. When I came to the electric power house (elekx-
trownia ), the Stryjers were very happy to see me. They told me tkat a
transport was supposed to come and to take all of us to Poland. (The
Soviet Union annexed to its territory eastern Poland including Rohatyn).

In the meantime I wes trying to seil our family'e nouse, as I d4id not
have any money. It was very difficult to sell the house even though I _
had people who were interested in buying. Fortunately since I was in the
Kussian army, I had some "clout" and I managed to sell our Louse. I was
happy as I had some money. I met a man who worked in a flour mill; he
gave me flour which I took to Lwow. L sold it and split the profits with
him. I made guite a tit of more money.

Before the transport was supposed to come for us, we went to the two mass
graves where about 17,90 Jews were buried. The first mass grave was for
people who were murdered on the 20th of March 1942. is I wrote previously,
I was forced to bury the people. The second mass grave was for the people
who were buried there after Jume 6, 1943 at the ligidation of the ZheTTo.
My motker and my brother kioshe-Emanuel were buried there. My brother
Samuel who was murdered two weeks prior tvo the liberation, was probtably
in that grave as well: all murdered Jews were gathered and thrown in to

this grave. The Ukrainians pointed that mass grave to us since we were

not present in town at that time. (I escaped to the woods and the Stryjers
were in hiding). The grave was so huge, we could not btelieve our eyes.

It was a very traumatic experience that I shall never forget. The tvhree




Y4 M5 sel O LLe grouna crying ana reciting Xaadish over ana over agein.

Tren we went to the other mass grave wkere I buried the people on iierch

21, 22 and 23, 1342. I was sitting there alone as the Stryjers were wander-
ing arounda the grave. I also kept reciving Kaddish there over and over
again. Before my eyes I saw a vision which I witnessed on those cold March
days of 1942. With heavy hearts we went back To The electric power house.
We started to get ready for our departure.




Derarture from Rohatyn in May 1946 to Poland and Germany

In the beginning of May 1946 we departed to Poland in a freight train.
Some more people were gathered on the way. The train was going to Eyckh-
tack (Reickenbach). Today this town is named Dzierzoniow. The Stryjers
and I got off near Krekow. The Stryjers found out that their son was in
the Fussian army and he was stationed in Poznan. We bozrded a passenger
train and went to Poznan. In Poznan nobody could give us any information
as to the whereabouts of Stryjer's son. We cdecided to go to Rychbach
where, we Kknew, our people went. When I arrived at Rychbach I met with
my cousins Lusia and Kozia and their father Shiye. I was glad to see tlLem.
They looked so much better than in Rohatyn. They owned & grocery store;
I helped in the store. We were waitving to leave for Germany, US Zone.
Around July 1946 we all left for Szczecin; from Szczecin we were smug-
gled across the border to Germany, French Zone and then to US Zone,
Displaced Persons (DP) camp Schlachtensee in Berlin.

The Stryjers stayed in Poland, still hoping to find their son. I kept
in contact with them. Subseguently they emigrated to Isrzel in 1948.
ey got together with their son who was in the Wladyslaw Sikorski's army.

We never forgotv our experience of going to the graves in Ekohatyn in 1946.
Wwhen I went back to Rohatyn with my wife, Bea on June 1998 with a group
of fifty people, the event of my going there to say Kaddish in 1946,
brought back all the memories. The Stryjers were not alive anymore to go
with us. The kohatyner people residing in Israel organized the trip.

Two monuments were erected on the two sites of the mass graves.




Summer 1947 - June 1949 in Bayreuth, kavaria (Germany)

Military trucks came to the DP Camp Schlachtensee and took us to bavaria
(southeastern region of Germany). They left us in a special gathering
point (I do not remember its nsme). They asked us where we wanted to go
from there. Since Lusia, Rozia and Shiye Glotzer were in a town Eayreuth,
I decided to go there and join them. Some of the people from our trans-
port went te—végious DP Camps nearty. Before I left Poland I heard from
my father. He found out that one of his sons is alive. He tried to con-
tact me. Since I was not in one place too long, he had difficulties.
Before I was leaving for Bavaria I received a telegram from my fatker;

I answered that I will send my address wken I arrive in Bavaria. Whken

I came to Bayreuth, my cousins as usual were very happy to see me.
Promptly I sent a telegram to my father. A few days later I received a
massage from the Bayreuth post office that my father was trying to reach
me by phone. Bayreuth was not eguipped to receive overseas telephone
calls. They referred me to Nurnberg where I could receive telephone calls
from my father. I had to travel seven hours by train to Nﬁrnberg. But I
did speak with my father juite a2 few times. He was very anxious for me
to come to USA and join him. By that time he had an idea what happened
to our family. He and other Rohatyners erected a monument in memory of
The victims of Rohatyn. The monument is in the Mt. Hebron cemetery in
Queens, N.Y.;(the same cemetery where my father is buried). I was anx-
iously waitihg in the town of Bayreuth for my departure to USA.

Bayreuth is a very famous town. It is the tirth place of a German com-
poser Richard VWagner who was Hitler's favorite composer. Hitler estab-
lished there many festivals (Festspiele). He had his personal box in the
Richard Wegner's theater; this became my favorite place in Bayreuth. I
and my cousins used to sit in Hitler's private box and listen to the
music. Bayreuth is a very picturesgue town; it is surrounded by moun-
tains where Hitler had his residence. We lived in a house owned by a
German Herr Meister. He used to point out tvo us all the places of inter-
est. It was a satisfaction to us to visit all tkese places which Hitler
treasured and now we, the Jews are tvhere.

In the meantime I kept receiving packages and money from my father. He

was working hard to bring me over to him. It was complicated as I was

not a minor anymore who would be allowed to come to a father. I even
changed my birthday, but it was dragging on and on. Whenever I spoke to
my father I zlways had a feeling that he was not in good health; of course



ne never aamitied it to me. I felt that ne was very idpetlent tLatl 1t
_takes so long to bring me over to him. I kept resssuring him thatv the
day of my coming to him was very near. All the red tape seemed To take
forever. Finally during president Truman's administration The congress
passed a Displaced Persons Act (1948) which allowed tke DP's to emigra-
te to USA provided that they have a sponsor. This of course was notv a
problem to me.

During my ordeal the only thing that kept me going was the hope that some-
day I will go to my father, my only psrent and & close relavive. I was
ptamning that I will be able to tell nim what I went Tkhrough to survive.
SomekLow subconsciously I felt that something was wrong. I <ept pushing
away my thoughts but they kept coming back. The last letter which I re-
ceived was not written by my father. That kept tothering me. During the
High Holidays I went with my cousins and their father to some people
where they conducted prayers. They handed me a prayer book. As I opened
it, tvhe first prayer that came before my eyes was the Kaddish. No matvver
how I turned the pages of the prayer book, I kept coming to the page of
the Kaddish. I tried not to think about this episode, but it kept coming
to my mind.

My cousin Rozia with her boyfriend Motek Unglick (he changed his name
to Osher) emigrated to Palestine (today Israel). iy cousin Lusia and
her father Shiye emigrated to Canada. I was going through the process
of finally eiigrating to USa.



Tragic Discovery -~ My Early Yeers in USA

In June 1949 I arrived at Brmerhaven (German port). After some more of
red tape I boarded a military ship, General Eeuser which was supposed to
teke me to New York. When I arrived at the pier in New York, meny rela-
tives came to meet me. I never saw any of my aunts or my cousins before.
iy sunts emigrated to USA before I was even born and my cousins were
young or some born in USi. I kept looking for my father. Nobody was
willing to break the terrible news to me that on April 2, 1949 my father
passed away. I considered this my second Holocaust. Later I found out
thkat his health deteriorated when he leazrned what happeneda to his wife,
sons and tThe entire family.

My aunt Kose Altman (my fatkher's sistver) with whom my father lived until
his death, decided that Toni Czekay's brother-in-law, Herbert Fleissig
should be the one to tell me this tragic news. Herbert Fleissig was
married to Toni Czekay's sister Adele (Adele and her son were xuraered
in the Holocaust). They felt that Herbert feeling his own grief, could
tell me about my father's death. By that time notoay had to tell me. I
knew that I lost my only close relative, my father.

I sat down Shkivah and then I went to the temple to say Kaadisk. I ar-
ranged for a monument to be erected on my father's grave. I Jjust could
not reconcﬁle with the fact that I could not see my father alive even
for a short time. I even regretted that I came to USA. My aunts anc
cousins were trying to snap me out of my depression tut everytking was
in vain. I felt myself drifting from day vo day. I lived in the same
room where my father did with my aunt Rose and her daughter Etta. I felt
that they could not understand me. I even did not try to tell them what
I went through. In those days none of the survivors were telling about
their experiences during the Holocaust; nobody weuld believe it anyway.
I believed that if I told somebody about my ordeal, they would think
that I am a liar. Hitler was right when he said tvhat he will make the
destruction of the Jews on such a big scale that nobody would believe
it. The Holocaust survivors kept burying their experiences deep in
their souls. Once in a while we, tvhe survivors, would talk between our-
selves about our experiences. We were therefore comfortable being among
the newcomers, as the Americans were calling us "greeners".

Therefore when I met my future wife, Bronia Walzer in 1950, I felt com-
fortable to share my experiences with her. I felt that she undersvood




S
me. I kept in touch with Lusia and her father. I visited them in Canada.
They also did not discuss their ordeals during the war years. As & matter
of fact Lusia died on Passover 1999 without telling her children and '
grandchildren how the three of them survived. There was always a bond
between us. When Lusia died I suffered a big loss.

My first year in USA was very turbulent. I just could not find myself.
The nightmares of my past continued constantly. Somehow with the help of
my wife and her parents I created a successful and a productive life.
When I became a father in 1954, our daughter Terry whom we named after
my mother Toba, was 2 precious gift to us. Then in 1958 our son Mitchell
was born; we named him after my father Mayer. I then realized that my
struggleés to survive were not in vain. I consider myself a2 lucky and a
happy man.

I became a grandfather of Jeffrey and Michael.

Somcehow Hitler's final solution was not so final. I consider my children
and my grandchildren a miracle of my survival.
I believe in the victory of good over evil.

PP Baruch Hashem - Thank God Jack Glotzer
July 2000
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EPILOGUE

On June 10, 1998 two monuments were dedicated in Rohatyn; one monument
was erected in the outskirts of the town, Babince; 3500 Jews were killed
there on March 20, 1942. The second monument was erected in kohatyn near
a brick-kiln (cegielnia). Jews were brought there from the surrounding
towns and villages together with Jews from Rohatyn ghetto after its
ligquidation on June 6, 1943. Jack Glotvzer's mother and his youngest
brother, Moshe Emanuel are buried there. The exact number of Jews buried
there is not known; the estimated number of Jews murdered by the Germans
between 1941 and 1944 and buried there, is 14,000.

Beatrice and Jack Glotzer made a trip to kokhatyn for the dedication of
the two monuzents. The dedication of the two monuments was attended by
people from three continents which included survivors, seccnd and third
generation of descendants, local citizens. local officials, & rabbi,
priests snd the press. Eulogies were delivered in several languages
Yidcish, KEebrew, English, Polish and Ukrzinian); Kaddish and "Eil

Malei kahamim" were recited. Jack Glotzer said Kaddish for his family
at the monumernts. The pilgrims were addressed by a local mayor (who
promised to protect and preserve the two monuments and the mass graves?,
a koman Cetholic priest, a Greek Orthodox priest and local citizens.

The Jews buried in the mass graves are men, women &nd children who were
not only brutally murdered by the German tsrbarians and their collabora-
tors, but wers never given a proper turial with monuments indicating
their identities. They were mothers, fathers, brothers, sistvers with
names and relatives. Their lives and identities were taken away from
‘them in order to completely obliterste their existence.

But we shall never forgive and shall always remember them.

REST IN PEACE.

Alexander Walzer

July 2000
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GLOSSAKRY (by page)

Notes and abbreviations

l. Some words listed in the glossary are also included in the text of
the story to facilitate the grasp of the story.

2. "Soviet army" and "Russian army" are used inverchancheably.
"Soviets" and "Russians" are used interchangeably.

5. The words referring to a particular page will not be repeated if
they appear on subsequent page(s).

4, Vords in parenthesis:

(Eeb.) = Eebrew
(Yidd.) = Yiddish
(Ukr.) = Ukrainian
(Pol.) = Dolish
(Germ.) = German
(Russ.) = Russian
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Eage?
OtT mit uns (Germ.)................ God with us
Yimah Shemo (Heb.) ..vvveveevnnennn.. May his name be wiped out

age ¥
Kohatyn Ttftertercrtiissssiessseseses. GOWNn in eastern Poland btefore World
War IT (now Ukraine)

/
W OW vt tttitinnnenoononnnneennennnnn city in eastern Poland before Worla
War ITI (now Ukraine)

Stanisiawow ...iiuiiitiriinnenn .. city in eastern Poland before Worla
War II (now Ukraine, city named
Ivano-Frankivs'k)

Gnila Lipa (Pol.) vovun..... ++ese.... Rotten Linden (river in kokatyn)
rynekw(fol.) cetttieieiiiisraae...... market place

BielsKO it vuiiiiinnnrennnnnnnnn. ... city in Poland

age 6

Shivah (He®.) ...........0v0vvvvv.... Hebrew term meaning "seven" referring
to the first seven days of mourning
after burial by the closest relati-
ves of the deceased. It is customary
to "sit shivah".

page 7

czerwona szkola (Pol.) ......... «.... red school

Bar Mitzvah (Heb.) ....vvvevvvee..... Hebrew term meaning "son of command-
ment" applied To & Jewish boy wko
reaches his 1l5th birthaay and attains
the age of religicus duty anda respon-

sibility
rebbies (Yidd.) .......cvuvuun..., ... Jewish teachers
obrot rytualny (Pol.) veeeeeveeenn.. . a law in Lohatyn before World War II

forbidding ritual slaughtering cf
cows and calves

Hanoar Haivri (Heb.) ..vuivevvnvennn. . Zionist organization

Hashomer Eatzair (Heb.) ........... .+ Zionist organization

Gordonia (Heb.) .....viveeeseeeeeee.. Zionist organization
L] L]

eseesecsssse. name of the Jewish land betore world
War II (now Isrsel)

gimnazjum (Pol.) tuiveveeuneoerennnnns high school in Poland

hahshara (Heb.) .....viiinnrnennnnn. . pkysical training of Jewish youth
before Worla Warly for their prepa-
ration for emigration to Palestine
(now Israel)

Palestine ¢ & 0 0400060000000

age 9
lebensraum (Germ.) .......eeeevee... roOOM (space) to live - as demanded
ty Hitler in 1938-1939

Polish cOrridor tvveeeveveeeeeneeess. NATTOW strip of land between Germany
and FPrussia trefore Wworld war II

Danzig (Germ.) ...... e et .... international portv before Wworld
War II (now a Polish city Gdansk)

age /0

Red Army .".....0.l.......'....l.'. SoVietArmy

Stalin Trrresescititsttrssnnseessa.,s SOVviet dictator and commander-in-crief
of Soviet Army




Lenln ""00000-nuonntao.oo-oaooot; l?&der of COmmu.niSt party inSOViet
: Russia
Class L R I T N I o ) e T < yeaI‘ Stlldy course in elementaI‘y
school in pre-war Poland

page /1

taznia (Pol.) ¢evvvveveveseeeees... bath house

Beis Hamidrash (Heb.) ....00:0..... Synagogue

Cracow .eeeececesessrensssensssesss City in Western Poland

page /3
Judenrat (Germ.) ..cevesesevesse... Jewish council

page /7

cerkwia (Pol.) s.eeveeeeeeceeess... Greek orthodox church

Gestapo (Germ.) ....e¢eveeeeeve.... Geheime Staats Folizei (German secret
state police)

verfluchte (Germ.) ¢.veeveeeece.... damned

Juden (Germ.) sueieeeeeceenreeeseens JEWS

TaUS (GeTM.) ¢ivevvevensconeseseess OUL

Aktion (Germ.) .....¢ie0000000e.... ghetto operation in which Jews were
rounded up and deported to death
camps or killed on the spoT

ghetto ..... crieeessrsassssssasses.. Section of a city or town in which
Jews were forceda to live

page /I

€IN (GETM.) teevevcososoasossneanss ONE

Junger (CeTM.) svisvirseeenssnsesss yOUNg
Bursch (Germ.) veeeeveveenoeeensso. fellow, boy

page /6

KozaK (KUSS.) +teevevecoseeneassse.. milivary member in Czsrist Russia
(antvi-Jewish)

page 20

Yom Xippur (Heb.) +eeveveveeeescoss.. holiest Jewisk holiday observed with
fasting (cay of Avonement) and prayers

Kol Nidre (Heb.) ¢veveeeeeesee.re... holiest prayer chanted in the synagogue
' on the eve of Yom Kippur

tallith (Heb.) ¢veveeesnveeeeensss. shawl with fringed corners (tzitzis)
traditionally worn over the snoulaers
ty Jewish men during prayers;
plural - tallithim (vradivional)
vallithot (grammatical)

vage 7/
EeXzec ...veieieeereaesesnecnensse. Polish village selected by Germans as
a death camp for the Jews

TarnoPol sevveeesesessosesecssesesss City in eastern Poland before Wworld
War II (now Ukraine)

page 29
Shavuot (Heb:) cveveeeseeoessesees. Jewish holiday commemorating the reve-
lation cf the law a2t Mt. Sinai

oblast (RUSS.:) teveeeessseeasasesss Tegion




page 27
gentile coierennnnas

page 24
paiynechi (Ukr.) ...
page 29

Jehovah's Witnesses

page 35
Shxa Israel (Eevr.) .

Hab keine Angst (Germ.) .

page 37

Bandera ® & & 0.0 0 00 ¢ 00 a0

Banderowce ........

page 12
S5iberia ..sivecaiaes

gage #
rzemysl .....0000.,

RzesSzoW ..esvevoonsne
EKrosSno veeessocesces
JBSXO0 cevvesccccscns
Katowice .ceeeoncecen
Rybnik ceeeeeevconsn

page 13

Bukoving ...eeeeceeee
Sambor ® ® 8 & 0 2 & 0 6 00 0 e

page 47
elexvrownia (Pol.)

age %%
Kaddish (Heb.) ..

L I B B B B R N I N Y

a person of non-Jewish faith

one kind of Ukrzainian bread

members.of & group that witness by
distribuving literature ana by personzl
evangelism to beliefs in the theocra-
tic rule of God and the sinfulness of
organized religions znd governments

Eear 0, Israel; first words of confe-
scsion of faith proclaiming the abso-
lute unity of God. Recited at daily
prayers and vefore death

dao not be afraid

Stepan Bandera (1908-1959); Ukrzinian
netionalist, leader of a terrorist
Ukrainian organizavion (OUN); from
1640 leacer of its revolutionary wing
so called "Eevolutionary" (OUN(E
which directed an action to extermi-
nate Poles and Jews in western Ukraine
in 1943%-1944; afver the war he emigra-
ted; died in mysterious circumstances

mexbers of Ukrainian neationalist gang

vast area east of mountains Urals
telonging to Russia; characteristic
of very cold climave. Polivical and
serious crime prisoners were ceportea
there

city in Southeastern Poland
city in Southeastern Poland
city in Southeastern Poland
town in Southeastern Poland
city in Southern Poland
city in Southern Poland

region in Romania
city in Westvern Uxkraine

Electric power station

a Jewish prayer recited in cthe daily
ritual of the synagogue and by nmourners

at public services after the death of
a close relzavive.




keichentach (Germ.) .v.evveeeo....vOwWn in Southwestern Poland, called
Eychtach. Eefore the war this town be-
longed to Germany. Todey this town is
called Dzierzoniow.

{
POZNBN +evevterosesnnssnnsennsees.CiTy in Western Poland

SZCZECIN vevveresreensnnensseesss.port in Northwestern Pcland. Eefore <he
waer this port was in German territory

Displaced Persons (DP) ...........refugees and Eolocaust survivors (most
of them were Jews); camps in several
countries (Germany, Austria, Italy,
France) were founded for these peogle.
These camps were considered &s a tempo-
rary shelter for the DP's tefore their
emigration to countries of their clkoice

.after the war Germany was temporarily
divided into US Zone, brivish Zone,
French Zone and kKussian Zone
.Wiadyslew Sikorski (1881-1943)

193G-1943 Prime Kinister of Polish goverr
ment in exile; initiavor of improving
relzations with Soviet Union (pact of
July 30, 1941); perished in a plane
crash near Gibraltar.

Be founded an army in deep Soviet Union
consisting of Polish citizens (incl.
Jews) for combat against Germany under
the command of Wladyslaw Anders. After
worsening of the Polish-Soviet releations
this army left Soviet Union reaching
North Africa through Iran arnd Palestine
(toaay Israel). aAn uknown numter of
Jewish soldiers left this army in Israel

Germany US ZONE teveveerococsons

.

Wizdysiaw Sikorski seeeeeconsons

page 50

DAVAT18 +eiveviitencesnssenessesss.SOutheastern region in Germany
Bayreuth ....vvveveveieeeeeenne... German town in Bavaria
Nurnberg ..ceevieveeseoeosesesesssss German town in Bavaria
Festspiele (Germ.) +veveveveveee... festivals

page 5/

Eigh Holidays .e.v¢vvveee.vvenses. the most important Jewishk holiadays
Rosh Hashanah and Yom Kippur

vage 5

Bremerhaven ......v000vveunesseee. German port

page 9/

Eil Malei kahamim (Heb)........... God who is full of compassion;
qpening words of prayer for the
aeparted recited at funerals and
during memorial (Yizkor) service
in the synagogue

cegielnia (Pol.) ® 8 & 0 00 5 0 0 0 00 00 0080 bricx-kiln
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ADDENDUM TO THE PAGE OF KEMEMBERANCE OF JACK GLOTZER'S FAMILY

Translation of Eebrew words

’)3/7£ to remember fP son
pﬁX eternity ];\ﬁ}i his wife

f@ of B 2/.90 __16 who perished

(female, singular)
ﬁ‘?'l'»? dear

| 900]6_ who perished
f)’g 90 martyrs ( male, singular)

! JQQM who perished (plural)
Mok family
9200)l_who died
’?/( my father (female, singular)

76@]6 who died

'NIC ny mother (male, singular)

‘AP0 my grandmother ]7(@]6 who died (plursl)
') my grandfather :)/(/6 Skoah (ERolocaust)
nle my brother _A129 _,1[3_7];_ United States of America
3 2y uncle Ja J0 two sons
WEE my aunt ]0,'_{9 98/1{6 three sons
'?lé?',‘P my cousin (male) Al _'___/_\6 two daughters
'91’3’/\? ny c_éusin (female) ’_/\]f;s mf tkree daughters

/f}/?:’ and husband
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HAP_OF ROKATY N (ROGATYI) AND SURROUHDING AREAS

SOURCE * NATIONAL GEQGRAPUIC ATLAS OF THE WOALL

SCALE: Lcem = 20,5 KM
Linek = 35,5 MILES
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JAN TARD Dipniaawn
O God, exalted and full of compassion, grant perfect peace
in Your sheltering presence, among the holy and the pure,
to the souls of our brethren of the House of Israel who have
. gone to their eternal home. Master of mercy, we beseech
. You, shelter them in the shadow of Your wings forever.

May their souls be bound up in the bond of life. The Lord is
their portion. May they rest in peace. And let us say: Amen
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